
n. - - - -

FRETRLL DWERSION AGREEMENT

It appearing that you are reported to have committed an offense against the United States beginning

in or about October 1995 and continuing to and including January 8, 1998, in violation of Title 18, United

States Code, Section 4, in that you are reported to have engaged in a misprision of a felony as set forth in

the subject Information attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit A..

Upon accepting responsibility for your behavior as set .forth in the "Stipulation of Fact? and by your

authorized signature on this Agreement, it appearing, after an investigation of the offense, that the interest

of the United States and your own interest and the interests of justice will be served by the following -

procedure, therefore:

On the authority of the United States Attorney for the Southern District oflllinois and the Criminal

Division, U.S. Department of Justice, prosecution in the Southern District of illinois for this offense shall be

deferred for a period of 18 months or the last payment, whichever is later, from this date, provided you abide

by the following conditions and the requirements of the program set out below.

Should you violate the conditions of this supervision, the government may revoke or modUi any

conditions of this pretrial diversion program or change the period ofsupervision which shall in no case exceed
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I months or the last payment date, whichever is later. The government may release you from supervision

at any time. The government may at any time within the period of your supexvision initiatc prosecution for

this offense against EDO should you violate the terms of this Agreement as set forth hereinbelow. In this

case, the government will ft3rnish you with notice specil.ingthe conditions oftheAgreement which you have

violated. The government may extend your term of supervision if you fail to comply with all conditions.

If, upon completion of your period of supervIsion, a pretrial diversion report is received to the effect

that you have complied with all the rules, regulations and conditions shove-mentioned, no criminal

prosecution for the offense set out above will be instituted in the Southern District ofllllnoi.s or in theEastem

District of Missouri, and the Information will be discharged. The undersigned Assistant United States

Attorneys represent that they have been authorized by the United States Attorney's Office for the Eastern

District ofMissouri to make such representation on its behalf

This agreement and all related documents may be released by the United States Attorney's Office.

EDO hereby waives all compliance requirements of the Privacy Act of 1974 (Title 5, U.S.C., Section 552a)

with regard to the above-described offense.

BDO is aware that Rule 43(b) ofthe Federal Rules ofCrirninal Procedure provides that the Court may

dismiss an indictment, information, or complaint forunnecessary delay in presenting a charge to the Grand

ury, filing an information or in bringing a defendant to trial. BDO hereby requests that the United States

Attorney's Office for the Southern District of Illinois defer any prosecution of it for violation of Title IS,

United States Code, Section 4, for a period of 18 months, or the date of final payment, whichever is later,

and to induce the government to defer such prosecution EDO agrees and consents that any delay from the

date ofthis Agreement to the date of the initiation of the prosecution, as provided for in the terms expressed

herein, shall be deemed to be a necessaiy delay at EDO's. request and 1300 waives any defense to such

2

EOUSA 446



n

prosecution on the ground that such delay operated to deny BDO's rights under Rule 48(b) of the edera1

Rules of Criminal Proedure or to bar the prosecution by reason of the running ofthe statute of limitations

for a period of 18 months0 or the date of final payment, whichever is later, which is the period of this

Agreement.

CONDITIONS OF PRETRIAL DIVERSION

OjgfldJ!i

1. BrO shall not violate any law (federal, staie or local).

Cooperation

2. Disclosure OfDbcuments To Which The Attorney-Client PrMlee Attaches In order to aid the

Government in any continuing aspects of its investigation against other third parties and in the event that the

.Govèrnment deems it necessary to its investigation and issues a subpoena, BbO agreesto produce additional

documents in its possession created between Januay 1, 1990, and October 6, 1999, relating to its provision

of professional services to James It. Gibson and Gibson-related companies, that have been withheld fromthe

Government on the ground of attorney-client privilege. In making any such production of additional

documents to assist the Government's enforcement efforts, BOO neither expressly nor implicitly waives its

right to assert any privilege with respect to the produced documents or the subject matters thereof that is

available under law against non-parties to this Agreement. The privileged materials and information provided

pursuant to this Agreement are for the limited purpose of cooperation in the criminal investigations of third-

parties, which investigations the Government acknowledges are confidential arid for purposes of any trial.

3. Encouraginn Cooperation Of Employees: BOO will use its best efforts to make available for

interviews, or for testimony, present or formerEDO partners and employees as requested bythe government.

EDO's Chairman agrees to instruct these partners and employees to cooperate filly and completely with the

3
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government. BDO will provide qualified custodians of records to introduce into evidence documents

produced byBDO.

4. General Copperation EDO agrees to respond truthfully and completely, through its counsel or

other qualified representative, to any questions or inquiries directed to BDO relating to this invesgation.

BDO will assemble nd organize all documents, records, or other tangible evidence in BDO's possession,

custody, or control, as requested by the government.

Pzyment To The United Stntes

5. EDO agrees to pay a total of Sixteen MIllion Dollars ($16,000,000.00) into a fund established by

the Government forthe victim restitution 'offormer clients of SBU. The payment ofthis money into the fhnd...

shall.not constitute an adjudication of any individual claim asserted or to be asserted by any victim. The

payment shall be made according to the following schedule: EDO will pay Four Million Dollars

($4,000,000.00) within 30 days ofacceptance.ofthis'agreement by theU.S. District Court. BDO will make

a second payment to the Government of Four Million Dollars ($4,000,000.00) by April30, 2002. EDO will

make a final payment to the Government of Eight Million Dollars ($8,000,000.00) by June 30,2002. BDO

may pre-pay the monetary payments as called for in this paragraph.

Any victims who receive money from the government's restitution ftind that was directly, funded by

EDO must sign a release that would prohibit them from filing or pursuing a previously filed claim against

BDO for any ofBDO's activities in relation to Gibson or Gibson-related companies. The release shall be in

a form agreed to by the Government and EDO. To the extent that any money is not claimed by victhus

within four (4) years, the remaining money shall be distributed to the United States ?ostal Inspection Service

Consumer Fraud Awareness Pund Account, said monies to be used to support activities which facilitate and

4
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PROMISES_BY TJTE UNTFED STATES QF AMERICA

7. Non-Prosecution ofBDO In consideration of the foregoing undertakings by EDO, the United

States Attorney's Offices for the Southern District offlhlnois and the Eastern District of Missouri will not file

any charges, other than that provided herein, against EDO, any of its current partners, principals or

employees, or eiliates for any actions relating in any way to the provision of professional services to James

R. Gibson and Gibson-related companies. The undersigned Assistant United States Attorneys represent that

they have been authori.aed by the United States Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of Missouri to make

suth representation on its behalf.

QLATJON OF CONDITIONS OF PRETRIAL DIVERSION

8. It shal' be a violation of the conditions of pretrial diversion for EDO to fhiL to abide by or fully

perform any of the promises set forth in paragraphs I to 6 above, during the eighteen (18) months following

the signing of this Agreement or the date of the last payment, whichever date is later, and the Agreement shall

expire on that date, with the exception that EDO's undertakings with respect to paragraph 5 of this

Agreement will be binding for the time period set forth in that paragraph.

5
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wU be free to bring prosecution against BIDO, or any entity orperson for any federal offense.
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Attorney for Defendant

Date: I 2oD

S

Date: /rN( i)., ooa,

** TOTAL PAGEØ9
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

vs. ) CRIMiNAL NO.
)

BDO SEIDMAN, LLP, )

Defendant. )

INFORMATION

THE UNITED STATES ATTORNEY CHARGES:

At all times relevant to this Information:

1. BDO Seidman, LLP (hereinafter "BDO") is a limited liability partnership formed

under the laws of the State of New York. BDO is an accounting firm providing services to

businesses and individuals.

2. BDO maintained an office in St. Louis, Missouri ("the former St. Louis office")

and was doing business in St. Louis, Missouri. BDO closed the former St. Louis office on

September 30, 2001.

3. The fonner St. Louis office performed tax accounting services for SBU, Inc.

(Missouri), SBU, Inc. (Illinois), SBU, Inc. (Florida) (hereinafter jointly referred to as "SBU",

unless otherwise noted), Flag Finance Corporation, and James R. Gibson (hereinafter referred to

as "Gibson") who resided in the Southern District of Illinois. SBU did business in the Southern

District of Illinois. The former St. Louis office also performed tax accounting services and

assurance services, including certain auditing work, for Gibson's company, Family Company of

America.

4. BDO, through the former St. Louis office, knew and understood that SBU was a

third party structured settlement company owned and operated by Gibson and engaged in the
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business of structuring personal injury plaintiffs' settlements and judgments through the

establishment of irrevocable trusts funded with United States Treasury obligations intended to

qualifi as tax exempt transactions tnder Internal Revenue Code Section 130.

5. BDO, through the former St. Louis office, knew and understood that Flag Finance

Corporation was a Missouri corporation owned and operated by Gibson for the ostensible

purpose of making consumer loans. BDO, through the former St. Louis office, knew and

understood that during 1995 Gibson represented that Flag Finance Corporation acted as a trustee

for SBU clients' trusts.

6. BDO, through the former St. Louis office, knew as early as October, 1995, that

SBU and Gibson had failed to purchase the promised United States Treasury obligations to fund

approximately twenty-two of SBU's clients' trusts between November, 1994 and October, 1995.

BDO, through its St. Louis office, knew and understood that Gibson inquired about using United

States Treasury obligations purchased with other SBU's clients' settlement moneys and held in

Flag Finance Corporation brokerage accounts for the benefit of SBU to collateralize loans in

order to purchase and operate a chain of grocery stores.

7. On or about October 17, 1995, BDO, through the former St. Louis office, advised

Gibson that the actual sale of the United States Treasury obligations to satisfy the loans would

result in reportable income to Gibson and/or SBU and would require Gibson to purchase -

additional United States Treasury obligations in order to replace the liquidated United States

Treasury obligations in SBU's clients' trusts to satisfy the stream of income contracted with the

injured party.

8. BDO, through the former St. Louis office, knew and understood that Gibson

formed Family Company of America in order to purchase and operate the chain of twenty-three

grocery stores. Gibson's Family Company of America purchased these grocery stores from

Schnucks Markets, Inc. during March, 1996.

9. Between in or about April and June 1996, BDO, through the former St. Louis

2
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office, prepared the SBU, Inc. (Florida) tax return for tax year 1995. In connection with the

preparation of that return, BDO, through the former St. Louis office, was aware that Gibson and

SBU had failed to purchase Unitd States Treasury obligations for certain of SBUs clients'

structured settlement trusts as he promised to do and that SBU was making periodic payments to

certain of those structured settlement clients. At Gibson's direction, BDO, through the former St.

Louis office, listed those settlement funds received as "liabilities" on the SBU, Inc. (Florida)

return for tax year 1995 when, in truth and in fact, they were not liabilities. No federal tax was

paid on those "liabilities." BDO, through the former St. Louis office, forwarded the prepared tax

return to Gibson for filing on June 24, 1996.

10. During in or about October, 1996, BDO, through the former St. Louis office,

knew and understood that, in order to finance the purchase and operation of the grocery store

chain, Gibson and SBU sold United States Treasury obligations which had been held in certain of

SBU's clients' trusts. BDO, through the former St. Louis office, also knew and understood that

Gibson and SBU used SBUs clients' settlement funds to purchase and operate the grocery store

chain instead of to purchase United States Treasury obligations to fund SBU's clients' trusts as

Gibson promised.

11. BDO, through the former St. Louis office, knew and understood that Gibson and

SBU received approximately sixteen million dollars ($16,000,000.00) in settlement funds

between October, 1994 and September, 1996, but had not purchased United States Treasury

obligations with these funds. The sixteen million dollars ($16,000,000.00) was income to

Gibson and/or SBU which income was not reported on any income tax return and no income tax

was paid.

12. On or about July 7, 1997, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) sent to SBU, Inc.

(Florida), a Notice of Tax Examination for the tax year ending October 31, 1993 (hereinafter

referred to as the "tax examination"). During the course of that tax examination, the IRS

formally inquired about documents relating to tax years 1994 and 1995.

13. During July or August, 1997, BDO, through the former St. Louis office, had

3
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internal discussions concerning Gibson's and SBU's failure to purchase United States Treasury

obligations for certain structured settlement clients' trusts and the use of SBU's clients'

settlement funds and bonds to purchase and operate the grocery store chain.

14. On or about September 9, 1997, Gibson executed a power of attorney on behalf of

SBU, Inc. (Florida) authorizing a BDO partner in the former St. Louis office to act as the

taxpayer representative in connection with the tax examination. The power of attorney was

subsequently transmitted to the IRS.

15. On December 18, 1997, BDO, through the former St. Louis office, and Gibson

discussed the failure by Gibson and SBU to purchase United States Treasury obligations with

settlement funds received during 1995 and 1996. BDO, through the former St. Louis office,

informed Gibson that the receipt of those funds was 100% taxable as income. At that time, BDO,

through the former St. Louis office, knew that Gibson's receipt and use of the funds to purchase

and operate the grocery store chain resulted in taxable income to SBU and that SBU and Gibson

had failed to report that income to the IRS.

16. On January 8, 1998, in response to the IRS' December 17, 1997 formal request

for documents, BDO, through the former St. Louis office, as taxpayer representative for SBU,

Inc. (Florida), submitted documents in connection with the ongoing tax examination (the

"Submission"). At that time, BDO, through the former St. Louis office, knew that Gibson had

committed a felony in connection with the tax year 1995 return, to wit, attempted tax evasion, in

violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7201. In the Submission, BDO, through the

former St. Louis office, failed to inform the IRS of information that was material to the

determination of income for tax year 1995, i.e. that Gibson had not purchased United States

Treasury obligations with settlement funds received and that Gibson had, instead, used those

funds to purchase and operate the grocery stores which were not qualified assets under Internal

Revenue Code Section 130, and BDO, through the former St. Louis office, failed to inform the

IRS that Gibson had committed attempted tax evasion in violation of Title 26, United States

Code, Section 7201.

4
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All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 4.

ROBERT J. CLEARY
United States Attorney

- I

MIRIAM F. MIQUELON
Assistant United States Attorney

HAL GOLDSMITH
Assistant United States Attorney

5
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

vs. ) CRIMINAL NO. _____

)
BDO SEIDMAN, LLP, )

)
Defendant. )

STIPULATION OF FACTS

The United States of America, by and through its attorneys, Robert J. Cleary, United

States Attorney for the Southern District of Illinois, Miriam F. Miquelon, and Hal Goldsmith,

Assistant U. S. Attorneys, along with the defendant, BDO Seidman, LLP, and. its attorneys

William Gardner and Stephen Hill, enter into the following factual stipulations:

1. BDO Seidman, LLP (hereinafter "BDO") is a limited liability partnership formed

under the laws of the State of New York. BDO is an accounting firm providing services to

businesses and individuals.

2. At all times relevant to the Information, BDO maintained an office in St. Louis,

Missouri ("the former St. Louis office") and was doing business in St. Louis, Missouri. BDO

closed the former St. Louis office on September 30, 2001.

3. The former St. Louis office performed tax accounting services for SBU, Inc.

(Missouri), SBU, Inc. (Illinois), SBU, Inc. (Florida) (hereinafter jointly referred to as "SBU",

unless otherwise noted), Flag Finance Corporation, and James R. Gibson (hereinafter referred to

as "Gibson") who resided in the Southern District of Illinois. SBU did business in the Southern

District of Illinois. The former St. Louis office also performed tax accounting services and

assurance services, including certain auditing work, for Family Company of America.

4. At all times relevant to the Information, Stephen R. Krause was one of several

1
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partners in the former St. Louis office and was the engagement partner for the SBU, Flag Finance

Corporation, and the Gibson family accounts. At all times relevant to the Information, Douglas

Beckmeyer was one of several parthers in the former St. Louis office and was the engagement

partner for Family Company of America.

5. Partners in the former St. Louis office, including Stephen R. Krause and Douglas

Beckmeyer, knew and understood that SBU was a third party structured settlement company

owned and operated by Gibson and engaged in the business of structuring personal injury

plaintiffs' settlements and judgments through the establishment of irrevocable trusts funded with

United States Treasury obligations intended to qualify as tax exempt transactions under Internal

Revenue Code Section 130.

6. Partners in the former St. Louis office, including Stephen R. Krause and Douglas

Beckmeyer, knew and understood that Flag Finance Corporation was a Missouri corporation

owned and operated by Gibson for the ostensible purpose of making consumer loans. Partners in

the former St. Louis office, including Stephen R. Krause and Douglas Beckmeyer, knew and

understood that during 1995 Gibson represented that Flag Finance Corporation acted as a trustee

for SBU clients' trusts.

7. Partners in the former St. Louis office, including Stephen R. Krause and Douglas

Beckmeyer, knew that as of October, 1995, SBU and Gibson had failed to purchase United States

Treasury obligations to fund approximately twenty-two trusts between November, 1994 and

October, 1995. Partners in the former St. Louis office, including Stephen R. Krause and Douglas

Beckmeyer, knew and understood that Gibson had inquired about using United States Treasury

obligations purchased with SBU's clients' settlement moneys and held in Flag Finance

Corporation brokerage accounts for the benefit of SBU to collateralize loans in order to purchase

and operate a chain of grocery stores.

8. On or about October 17, 1995, Stephen R. Krause advised Gibson that the actual

sale of the United States Treasury obligations to satisfy the lOans would result in reportable

2
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income and would require Gibson to purchase additional United States Treasury obligations in

order to replace the liquidated United States Treasury obligations in SBU's clients' trusts to

satisf' the stream of income contracted with the injured party.

9. Partners in the former St. Louis office, including Stephen R. Krause and Douglas

Beckmeyer, knew and understood that Gibson formed Family Company of America in order to

purchase and operate the chain of twenty-three grocery stores. Gibson's Family Company of

America purchased these grocery stores from Schnucks Markets, Inc. during March, 1996.

10. Between in or about April and June 1996, partners and employees of the former

St. Louis office prepared the SBU, Inc. (Florida) tax return for tax year 1995. In connection with

the preparation of that retum, partners of the former St. Louis office, including Stephen R.

Krause and Douglas Beckmeyer, were aware that Gibson and SBU had failed to purchase United

States Treasury obligations for certain structured settlement trusts and that SBU was making

periodic payments to certain of those structured settlement clients. At Gibson's direction,

Stephen R. Krause thereafter listed those settlement funds received as "liabilities" on the SBU,

Inc. (Florida) return for tax year 1995. No federal tax was paid on those "liabilities." Stephen R.

Krause forwarded the prepared tax return to Gibson for filing on June 24, 1996.

11. During in or about October, 1996, partners of the former St. Louis office,

including Stephen R. Krause and Douglas Beckmeyer, knew and understood that, in order to

finance the

purchase and operation of the grocery store chain, Gibson and SBU sold United States Treasury

obligations which had been held in certain of SBU's clients' trusts. Partners in the former St.

Louis office, including Stephen R. Krause and Douglas Beckmeyer, also knew and understood

that Gibson and SBU used SBU's clients' settlement funds to purchase and operate the grocery

store chain instead of to purchase United States Treasury obligations to fund SBU's clients'

trusts.

12. Partners in the former St. Louis office, including Stephen R. Krause and Douglas

3
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Beckmeyer, knew and understood that Gibson and SBU received approximately sixteen million

dollars ($16,000,000.00) in settlement funds between October, 1994 and September, 1996, but

had not purchased United States Treasuiy obligations with these funds.

13. On or about July 7, 1997, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) sent to SBU. Inc.

(Florida), a Notice of Tax Examination for the tax year ending October 31, 1993 (hereinafter

referred to as the "tax examination"). During the course of that tax examination, the IRS

inquired about documents relating to tax years 1994 and 1995.

14. During July or August, 1997, partners of the former St. Louis office, including

Stephen R. Krause, Douglas Beckmeyer, and the managing partner of the former St. Louis office,

Walter Knepper, had internal discussions concerning Gibson's and SBU's failure to purchase

United States Treasury obligations for certain structured settlement clients' trusts and the use of

SBUs clients' settlement funds and bonds to purchase and operate the grocery store chain.

15. On or about September 9, 1997, Gibson executed a power of attorney on behalf of

SBU, Inc. (Florida) authorizing Stephen R. Krause of BDO to act as the taxpayer representative

in connection with the tax examination described in paragraph 13, above. The power of attorney

was subsequently transmitted to the IRS.

16. On December 18, 1997, Stephen R. Krause and Gibson discussed the failure by

Gibson and SBU to purchase United States Treasury obligations with settlement funds received

during 1995 and 1996. Stephen R. Krause informed Gibson that the receipt of those funds would

be 100% taxable as income. At that time, Stephen R. Krause knew that Gibson's receipt and use

of the funds to purchase and operate the grocery store chain resulted in taxable income to SBU

and that SBU and Gibson had failed to report that income to the IRS.

17. On January 8, 1998, in response to the IRS' December 17, 1997 request for

documents, Stephen R. Krause submitted documents in connection with the ongoing tax

4
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examination (the "Submission"). At that time, Krause knew that Gibson had committed a felony

in connection with the tax year 1995 return, to wit, attempted tax evasion, in violation of Title

26, United States

Code, Section 7201. In that Submission, Krause failed to inform the IRS of information that was

material to the determination of income for tax year 1995, i.e. that Gibson had not purchased

United States Treasury obligations with settlement funds received and that Gibson had, instead,

used those

funds to purchase and operate the grocery stores which were not qualified assets under Internal

Revenue Code Section 130.
18. BDO acknowledges that venue is proper in the Southern District of Illinois and

waives

any objection to venue in the Southern District of Illinois as well as any objection to this Court

exercising jurisdiction in these matters.

SO STIPULATED: ROBERT J. CLEARY
United States Attorney

JACK A. WEISBAUM, Vice Chairman
BDO SEIDMAN, LLP
Defendant

WILLIAM L. GARDNER
Attorney for Defendant

MIRIAM F. MIQUELON
Assistant United States Attorney

HAL GOLDSMITH
Assistant United States Attorney
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STEPHEN L. HILL, JR.
Attorney for Defendant

Date:
Date:
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